
 1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872453 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

11 February 2021  
 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL – (LD05) 
COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO ENGAGEMENT EXERCISE ON INLAND BORDER 
CONTROL FACILITY   
 
Please find attached details of a decision taken by Councillor Trevor Bartlett, Leader of the 
Council, in relation to the Government’s engagement exercise on plans to build an inland 
border control facility on a site at the White Cliffs Business Park, Whitfield.   
 
The Chairman of the Council has agreed to suspend call-in for the reasons set out in 
paragraph 3.2 of the Decision Notice. 
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-
Smith, Democratic Services Officer on 01304 872303 or by e-mail at 
democraticservices@dover.gov.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
ENCL 
 

1   NOTICE OF DECISION TAKEN BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL - (LD05) 
COUNCIL'S RESPONSE TO ENGAGEMENT EXERCISE ON INLAND BORDER 
CONTROL FACILITY (Pages 2-52) 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Decision Notice 
 

 

Dover District Council 

Decision No: LD05 

Subject: RESPONSE TO DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT’S 
ENGAGEMENT EXERCISE ON PROPOSALS TO ESTABLISH 
AN INLAND BORDER CONTROL FACILITY AT WHITE CLIFFS 
BUSINESS PARK 

Notification Date: 11 February 2021 

Implementation Date: 10 February 2021 

Decision taken by: Councillor Trevor Bartlett, Leader of the Council 

Authority: By virtue of Section 9(E) (2) (a) of the Local Government Act 
2000 

Decision Type: Executive Non-Key Decision  

Call-In to Apply? No (The Chairman of the Council has agreed to suspend call-
in for the reasons set out in paragraph 3.2) 

Classification: Unrestricted   

Reason for the 
Decision: 

To respond to the engagement process in relation to the 
Government’s proposal to construct an Inland Border Facility 
(IBF) on a 37.6 hectare site at the White Cliffs Business Park, 
Dover.  

Decision: To respond as both Local Authority and Local Planning Authority 
in the form appended to this Notice. 

 

1. Consideration and Alternatives (if applicable) 

1.1 The proposed response was debated by the full Council at its meeting held on 9 
February 2021 as part of the process of the Leader of the Council developing the 
response. 

2. Any Conflicts of Interest Declared? 

2.1 None. 

3. Supporting Information (as applicable) 

3.1 See attached response. 

3.2 The Chairman of the Council has agreed to the suspension of call-in. This is on the  
basis of the short timescale for the response to be submitted and taking into account 
that the full Council had the opportunity to debate the proposed response before it was 
submitted. 

 

 

2

Agenda Item No 1



Update Paper to the Extraordinary Council meeting 9th February 2021 

PROPOSED RESPONSE TO THE ENGAGEMENT EXERCISE BEING UNDERTAKEN BY 

THE DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT ON PROPOSALS TO ESTABLISH AN INLAND 

BORDER CONTROL FACILITY AT THE WHITE CLIFFS BUSINESS PARK  

1. Since the Planning Report (Appendix 3 to this agenda) on this matter was published 

a number of issues have arisen that Officers need to update Members on. 

 

2. Firstly, in respect of recommendation c, officers have liaised regarding the details of 

the Dover Fastrack scheme, and it is understood that the agreed bus gate details to 

be installed for that scheme comprise Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) 

enforcement. Accordingly, the recommendation in this respect should be amended to 

propose this as follows:- 

 

c.  that a bus gate, controlled by Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras, 

is installed on the new access roadway to control and limit the Dover Road access to 

authorised buses and emergency vehicles only”. 

3. In addition, views have been received from Environmental Health on the draft Noise 

and Air Quality reports submitted. These comprise a detailed technical assessment 

of those reports which can be supplied to the DfT, but in summary they conclude that 

further work is required on both reports, particularly in light of the amended plan 

shown last night which has not been incorporated in to our comments (although they 

recognise that the amendments result in an improvement in terms of noise). A report 

on Contaminated Land is still awaited. Additional recommendations suggested are as 

follows:- 

z. Noisy works of construction should only take place during the following hours 
▪ 8am-6pm Monday-Friday  
▪ 8am-1pm Saturday  
▪ No time at all on Sundays or Public Holidays. 
▪ Prior consent for works should be applied for under Section 61 of the 

Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
 

aa. There should be a requirement to produce a stakeholder communications plan that 
includes community engagement before work commences 
 

bb. Mitigation measures  should include discussions with DDC to establish appropriate 
access and haul routes for construction traffic.  
 

cc. Prior to commencement of the development a desk top study for contamination shall 

be undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The study shall include the identification of previous site uses, potential 

contaminants that might reasonably be expected given those uses and any other 

relevant information.  Using this information, a diagrammatical representation 

(Conceptual Model) for the site of all potential contaminant sources, pathways and 

receptors shall also be included. 

3



In addition a number of changes to existing recommendations are proposed to deal 

with Air Quality issues (additional text is in red). 

g. that fast charge electric vehicle charging points are provided for the staff car parks 

at one for every 10 spaces & that electric hook up points are provided for 

refrigeration units of trucks.  

h. that a fully detailed proposed LED lighting scheme (including lux plot) is included 

with the submission for Relevant Approval, so landscape and visual impacts of the 

proposed IBF can be properly considered, and that no lighting is provided to the east 

of the lorry parking areas and no columns exceed 8m in height. The scheme should 

make specific reference to Institute of Lighting Engineers Guidance Document 

‘Guidance Note 1 for the reduction of obtrusive light 2020’ whereby residential areas 

in Guston are considered E2 Rural Low district brightness (Sparsely inhabited rural 

areas, village or relatively dark outer suburban locations). 

m. that an acoustic fence is positioned along the eastern edge of the HGV parking 

area, to help attenuate any noise from that area; the fence and buildings should be 

designed such that there is minimum ‘line of sight’ from residential properties in St 

Martins Road.  

r. that further engagement with DDC on matters of noise, air quality, lighting and 

contaminated land is required before the submission for relevant approval;  

s. that there is meaningful engagement with DDC on the information and detail that is 
to be provided as a ‘construction management plan’, ‘operational management plan’ 
and site specific ‘dust management plan’ as referenced as mitigation in the air quality 
report (WSP 70077720-AQ). This should  include real-time PM10 monitoring to begin 
as soon as possible before the commencement of works. 
 

 

3. At a meeting arranged by the DfT on Monday afternoon of this week, at which a 

number of Members, Officers and other interested parties were present, the DfT 

tabled an amended layout plan and section through the site. By way of introduction it 

was indicated that these plans were a response to issues raised by local residents in 

relation to the visibility of the site from their properties and noise issues. It was 

unclear whether the plans were being proposed as a substitute for the plan at 

Appendix 2 of this agenda or one possible solution to those issues. The plans have 

not been sent to the Council as part of the engagement exercise. 

 

4. These plans show a number of significant amendments to the scheme, some of 

which are as follows.   

 

a) The extent of the area to be developed has increased in an easterly direction 

towards the Dover Road. 

b) The areas proposed for  DEFRA/HMRC buildings and for lorry parking to the east 

of Roman Road have been swapped so that to some extent the lorry parking 

areas are now screened from views from the east by buildings. 

4



c) The proposed bund referred to in the report has been moved westwards adjacent 

to the buildings and increased in height to 4m – the north/south extent of the 

bund is unknown. 

d) In response to questions it was stated that the security fence has been moved to 

the west of the bund so that it is screened by it. 

e) Additional areas of landscape have been introduced. Areas for SUDS have been 

streamlined. 

f) Of most significance are the amendments to the proposed access arrangements. 

Only one access to the site is now shown for all traffic (HGV’s/cars) both entering 

and leaving. This would still involve a 4th arm being created to the B&Q 

roundabout together with a short section of road which would enter the site 

slightly further north west than originally proposed. The remainder of the road 

proposed originally, which followed the alignment and details shown  in the Dover 

Fastrack application, has been deleted. 

 

5. As indicated above, the plans have not been sent to the Council as part of the 

engagement exercise, and their status is unclear. In terms of dealing with some of 

the issues identified in officers original recommendations they may have some 

potential to resolve visibility of the operations and noise as EH recognise 

(recommendations i, l and m) but a more detailed examination by Officers is 

necessary to confirm that. 

 

6. Of potential concern however are the revised access arrangements.  The earlier 

report to Council at Appendix 3 proposed that car and HGV access were separated 

in their entirety to reduce potential conflict and delay between the different types of 

vehicle; the revisions result in increased likelihood of traffic backing up onto the 

Dover Fastrack Road and Honeywood Parkway. In addition putting all movements 

onto one access reduces flexibility in the event of such conflict or an emergency. 

Access for emergency vehicles was previously proposed to be from the eastern 

(Dover Road) end of the Fastrack Road using bus gate control. 

 

7. Furthermore, the new access road details appear at first glance to be incompatible 

with the proposed alignment of the Dover Fastrack road. If that is the case, it is 

unclear how such conflict would be resolved should both sets of proposals be 

agreed. The implementation timescales for both projects are some months apart and 

it is assumed it would be necessary to demonstrate that IBF operations would not be 

affected by such differing timescales. 

 

8. Officers therefore additionally recommend as follows:- 

 

dd. That in the event of an alternative layout being proposed for submission for SDO 

approval that a further period of engagement to ascertain DDC’s views is agreed 

 

ee. That in the event of the proposed access arrangements being amended that any 

such amendments fully align with the proposed Dover Fastrack scheme or that it is 

clear how such an alignment will be achieved. 

 

5



ff. that the proposed Operational Management Plan is sent to DDC as soon as 

possible so that emergency access arrangements and other factors affecting the 

Dover Fastrack road can be agreed. 

6



Appendix 3: Draft response to DfT on behalf of DDC as Local Planning Authority  

Introduction  

The Department for Transport (DfT) is proposing to construct an Inland Border Facility (IBF) 

on a site at the White Cliffs Business Park to the north of Dover (“the Site”).  The purpose of 

the IBF is to provide additional space for customs and transit checks for goods starting and 

ending the transit movement to and from the UK, in response to new rules on trade, travel and 

business between the UK and European Union that came into effect from 1 January 2021. 

More specifically, the DfT advises that the Site will also be used to process/inspect vehicles 

(predominantly heavy goods vehicles (HGVs)) importing plants, animal products, certain food 

and live animals through the Port of Dover.   

Details of the Site and the proposed IBF development are set out further in the report below 

(including plans of the Site, the surrounding area and general proposed layout), but in broad 

terms:  

• the Site comprises 37.6 hectares of agricultural land between Honeywood Parkway 

and Dover Road, to the south of the A2; 

• vehicles would enter the Site  via the A2 at the Whitfield Interchange and Honeywood 

Parkway roundabout, queue on site as necessary in a stacking arrangement, before 

being processed through a centrally located built compound; 

• the central compound would be used for the inspection of vehicles/documents, part by 

the ‘Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs’ (DEFRA) and part by ‘Her 

Majesty’s Revenues and Customs’ (HMRC); 

• it is intended that HMRC inspections would be for inbound and outbound vehicles, 

whilst the DEFRA element would only be for those inbound (into the UK); 

• the eastern part of the Site would be used as necessary for the parking of HGVs in 

connection with the IBF; and 

• vehicles would exit to the south of the site onto a new road between Dover Road and 

Honeywood Parkway (with vehicle movement to be restricted to turn right only towards 

Honeywood Parkway and the A2 only), which would have the same alignment as the 

intended Dover Fastrack / BRT route. 

The consenting process for the proposed IBF utilises specific legislation – ‘The Town and 

Country Planning (Border Facilities and Infrastructure) (EU Exit) (England) Special 

Development Order 2020’ (“the SDO”) – which provides extensive powers for the Government 

7



to develop the proposed IBF without express planning permission from Dover District Council 

(DDC) as Local Planning Authority. 

The SDO grants temporary planning permission (until 31 December 2025) for the change of 

use of land, construction of buildings and associated infrastructure and landscaping works, as 

sought by HMRC or certain Secretaries of State (the Secretary of State for Transport in this 

instance) in connection with the inspection of vehicles and goods entering or leaving the UK 

in various locations throughout England and Wales. 

However, the planning permission is subject to a process of ‘relevant approval’ by the 

‘Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government’, requiring a submission 

under Article 4 (1) (on behalf of the DfT) of information to enable the likely environmental 

effects of the development to be considered in the context of relevant national and local 

planning policies (across environmental, social and economic objectives of sustainable 

development), with regard to any other relevant material considerations.   

This submission must also include information on how specific consultees (referred to as 

‘engagement parties’ by the SDO) have been engaged with regarding the proposed IBF, as 

well as then providing the representations received. 

Dover District Council (DDC) as Local Planning Authority is one such engagement party, whilst 

others include relevant parish councils and nearby and surrounding residents and businesses. 

To inform the engagement response of the Local Planning Authority, this report considers the 

proposed IBF development, with regard to the information made available to officers by the 

DfT, against the relevant planning policy framework and other material considerations. 

It should be noted that the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government is able to impose conditions to control the construction, operation and 

management of the proposed IBF, should relevant approval be granted.  Some model 

conditions are identified by the SDO, including for a ‘construction management plan’ and 

‘operational management plan’ to be submitted and approved, but the development can be 

subject to other conditions as may be considered necessary, relevant and reasonable.  

To assist members consideration the report below follows the structure of how planning 

applications for proposed development are usually presented to the DDC’s Planning 

Committee, providing details on planning policy and guidance, relevant planning history, the 

response of internal consultees, and the site and proposed development, before making an 

assessment of the main planning issues and reaching a recommendation.  

8



a) The development of an Inland Border Facility, comprising the change of use of 

land, erection of buildings, and associated landscaping and infrastructure 

works, on land to the east of Honeywood Parkway and south of the A2, White 

Cliffs Business Park, Dover. 

Development pursuant to the ‘Town and Country Planning (Border Facilities and 

Infrastructure) (EU Exit) (England) Special Development Order 2020’. 

b) Summary of Recommendation 

That this report and its recommendations are submitted to the Secretary of State for 

Transport, as the Local Planning Authority’s engagement response to the proposed 

IBF development at White Cliffs Business Park, pursuant to the ‘Town and Country 

Planning (Border Facilities and Infrastructure) (EU Exit) (England) Special 

Development Order 2020’. 

c) Planning Policy and Guidance 

Dover District Core Strategy (Adopted February 2010) 

The stated aim of the Core Strategy is to regenerate the District so that economically 

and socially it out performs the region.  The District contains some of the most deprived 

areas in the country and its economy is weaker than others in the region. 

The objectives of the Core Strategy cover multiple aspects of sustainable 

development, including:  

• to transform Dover to become a location of choice to live, work, visit, shop and 

enjoy leisure time;  

• to boost the local economy to at least match regional averages, including 

through local skills and training initiatives;  

• to ease travel for both people and freight, concentrating development where it 

can best align with facilities and infrastructure, and encourage sustainable 

modes of transport; 

• to maintain and enhance the quality of the District’s natural environment and 

green spaces to better support wildlife and human health; 

• to protect the historic environment, recognising its regeneration potential at 

Dover; 

9



• to use land and natural resources efficiently, as well as adapting to the impacts 

of climate change; and 

• to ensure sufficient infrastructure is in place to accommodate future 

development. 

The strategic policies of the Core Strategy seek to achieve these objectives: 

• Policy CP1 identifies Dover as the highest tier and most sustainable settlement 

in the District – suitable for the largest scale developments; 

• Policy CP2 seeks to provide significant job creation through identifying land for 

employment growth; 

• Policy CP5 promotes higher standards of sustainable construction through the 

application of BREEAM; 

• Policy CP6 requires that where development generates a demand for 

infrastructure that infrastructure must be in place or provided at the time it is 

needed; 

• Policy CP7 recognises the importance of the District’s network of green 

infrastructure and that it should be protected and enhanced; and  

• Policy CP11 relates to the expansion of Whitfield for 5750 houses.  

Development should maximise the potential for walking, cycling and use of 

public transport to the White Cliffs Business Park. 

The Core Strategy contains various other policies to manage development: 

• Policy DM1 defines the settlement boundary of Dover, outside which 

development would normally be resisted; 

• Policy DM2 protects land allocated for employment uses; 

• Policy DM11 requires detailed assessment of the transport impacts of any 

development; 

• Policy DM12 deals with development affecting the strategic road network – 

appropriate mitigation will required where development would otherwise result 

in significant additional congestion; 

10



• Policy DM13 refers to Kent County Council guidance on parking standards; 

• Policy DM15 seeks to protect the character and appearance of the countryside, 

but recognising some greenfield sites will be allocated for development to meet 

the needs of the District; 

• Policy DM16 addresses landscape character – development that would harm 

the character of the landscape should only be permitted if its impacts can be 

reduced or mitigated to an acceptable level; and 

• Policy DM17 seeks to ensure the protection of areas of groundwater to 

safeguard potable water supplies. 

Dover District Land Allocations Local Plan (Adopted January 2015) (“the LALP”) 

The LALP sits alongside the Core Strategy as part of the statutory Development Plan.  

It allocates land for employment and housing development across the District. 

Policy LA2 identifies land for employment development at White Cliffs Business Park, 

referred to as Phase 2 and Phase 3, as shown at Figure 1.  Phase 2 comprises the 

eastern end of Honeywood Parkway, where recent development including the B&Q 

store, Dover Leisure Centre and Lidl are located, as well as yet undeveloped 

agricultural land.  Phase 3 consists of land to the east of Roman Road, up to Dover 

Road / St Martin’s Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: White Cliffs Business Park - Allocation 

Phase 3 Phase 2 

B&Q 

Tesco 

Roman 
Road 

Dover 
Road 

11



Policy LA2 makes provision for light industrial, general industrial and storage & 

distribution development, as well as other employment generating uses.  It also seeks 

to manage development including to ensure that: 

• the route and setting of the North Downs Way National Trail (“the NDW”) is 

protected as it crosses the allocation site along Roman Road; and  

• adequate structural landscaping is provided along perimeter boundaries. 

The supportive text of Policy LA2 makes reference to the adjacent houses on Dover 

Road / St Martin’s Road, requiring at least a 25m wide landscape buffer with earth 

bunds and dense planting to be provided, as well as limiting the type of business / 

industrial activity closest to those houses to that compatible with their residential 

amenities.  

Dover District Local Plan (Adopted 2002) - Saved Policies 

Policy TR9 seeks to provide and safeguard cycle routes. 

Policy TR10 seeks to protect major urban footpaths – whilst it does not explicitly refer 

to the NDW its objectives are nonetheless relevant. 

Policy CO8 protects hedgerows and requires suitable replacement if there is no 

alternative to their loss. 

Policy ER6 seeks to ensure the sensitive use of external lighting. 

Consultation Draft Dover District Local Plan (2021)  

The Draft Dover District Local Plan sets out planning policies and proposals for new 

development in the District over the period from 2020 to 2040 and when adopted will 

replace the existing Development Plan documents (Core Strategy and Land 

Allocations Local Plan). While the plan is a material planning consideration for the 

purposes of this consultation, it’s currently at a very early stage in the plan making 

process and as such its policies have little weight at this time. 

• Policy SP1 seeks for all new development to contribute to the mitigation of, and 

adaptation to, climate change; 

• Policy DM1 and Policy DM2 set out specific standards for development to 

reduce carbon emissions and to adopt standards of sustainable design and 

construction; 

12



• Policy DM4 relates to sustainable travel, seeking for development to maximise 

alternatives to the private car, to provide electric vehicle charging points, and 

to accommodate cycle parking; 

• Policy DM5 seeks to ensure water efficiency standards are incorporated into 

development; 

• Policy DM6 and Policy DM7 require that flood risk is properly assessed and 

considered in accordance with national guidance; and that appropriate and 

sustainable surface water drainage measures are provided; 

• Policy SP8 identifies the Council’s support for development that delivers 

economic prosperity, job growth and investment; 

• Policy SP9 continues to allocate White Cliffs Business Park for business and 

employment purposes; 

• Policy SP13 emphasises that the Council will continue to work with relevant 

service providers to ensure that infrastructure is delivered, in the right place, at 

the right time, to meet the needs of the District; 

• Policy SP14 explains the Council’s commitment to major, long term 

improvements to the A2; 

• Policy DM29 seeks to prevent development that would generate levels and 

types of traffic movements resulting in severe cumulative residual impacts in 

terms of capacity and road safety; 

• Policy SP16 protects the District’s various designated sites for ecology and 

biodiversity; 

• Policy DM38 introduces a requirement for development to achieve at least a 

10% biodiversity net gain; 

• Policy DM39 addresses the importance of landscape character and the setting 

of the AONB; 

• Policy DM41 seeks to ensure development does not result in exceedances of 

National Air Quality Objectives; and 

13



• Policy SP18, Policy DM44 and Policy DM46 identify the importance of the 

historic environment, including archaeology, and seek to protect it; 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (“the Framework”) 

The Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how 

these are expected to be applied.  It is therefore a material consideration, to which 

significant weight should be attached. 

At paragraph 8, the Framework states that sustainable development has three 

overarching objectives – an economic objective, a social objective and an 

environmental objective.  These are interdependent and need to be pursued in 

mutually supportive ways, seeking net gains across each. 

Paragraph 80 states that planning decisions should create conditions in which 

business can invest and expand, with significant weight to be afforded to economic 

growth and productivity. 

At paragraph 102, the Framework seeks for transport issues to be considered at the 

earliest stages of development proposals, so that impacts on transport networks can 

be addressed.  Environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure must be 

identified, assessed and taken into account – including opportunities for avoiding and 

mitigating .adverse impacts. 

Paragraph 107 recognises the importance of providing adequate lorry parking facilities, 

to reduce the risk of parking in locations that lack proper facilities or could cause a 

nuisance. 

At paragraph 108, development must provide safe and suitable access, and significant 

impacts on the transport network should be mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

Paragraph 109 is clear that development should only be prevented or refused on 

highway grounds where it would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or its 

residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

Paragraph 165 – development should incorporate sustainable drainage systems 

unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. 

Paragraph 170 seeks for development to contribute and enhance the natural and local 

environment, including by enhancing valued landscapes and recognising the intrinsic 

14



character of the countryside; providing net gains for biodiversity and establishing 

coherent ecological network; and preventing unacceptable risks to soil, air and water, 

as well as noise pollution. 

Paragraph 180 – noise that gives rise to significant impacts on health and quality of life 

should be avoided. 

Paragraphs 184 – 202 address development and the historic environment.  When 

considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 

heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 

Planning Policy Guidance (“the PPG”) 

The PPG provides guidance on matters relating to main issues associated with 

development and is underpinned by the Framework. 

Draft revision to the National Planning Policy Framework 

The Government is currently consulting on draft changes to the National Planning 

Policy Framework, comprising focussed revisions to the existing text.   

At a high level, the proposed revisions refer to commitments made to pursue goals of 

sustainable development to address social progress, economic well-being and 

environmental protection (under the ‘Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development’). 

At a more local level, other relevant proposed changes include reference to:  

• the National Design Guidance and National Model Design Code; 

• the importance of trees in contributing to the character and quality of urban 

environments as well as helping mitigate and adapt to climate change; and  

• sensitively locating and designing development to avoid adverse impacts on 

the setting of an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  

Other Documents  

• Landscape Character Assessment (2006) 

• Dover District Heritage Strategy (2013) 

• National Design Guide (2021) 

15



• Kent Design Guide (2005) 

 

d) Relevant Planning History 

There are a number of planning applications relevant to White Cliffs Business Park: 

Phase 2 White Cliffs Business Park, Honeywood Parkway  

i. DOV/95/00828 – Outline application for proposed development of land for 

business (B1), general industrial (B2), storage and distribution (B8) uses.  

Approved 15/03/96.  

ii. DOV/97/00951 – Erection of Class B1, B2 and B8 commercial buildings and 

ancillary highway and development works.  Approved 24/02/98.   

Phase 2 White Cliffs Business Park, Honeywood Parkway (including B&Q) 

iii. DOV/05/00519 – Outline application for the construction of approximately 

65,000sqm of employment development (use classes B1, B2 and B8) and a 

fully detailed application for a non-food DIY retail warehouse (approximately 

5,734sqm of retail floor space), garden centre and builders yard with servicing, 

parking, access, landscaping and spine road and internal road.   Approved 

05/05/06. 

Land to south of Honeywood Parkway, part of Phase 2 White Cliffs Business Park 

iv. DOV/07/00237 – Erection of 2no. office buildings and external store, 

construction of vehicular access, formation of parking and associated works. 

Approved 30/07/07. 

Land to south of Honeywood Parkway, part of Phase 2 White Cliffs Business Park 

v. DOV/15/00815 - Erection of 7no. units for Class B2/B8 use (with ancillary trade 

counter(s)) and sui generis use(s) within the specified categories: ((i) Storage, 

distribution of sales of tiles, floor coverings, bathroom and kitchen furniture and 

fittings and other building materials; (ii) Machinery, tool and plant hire; (iii) Auto 

Centre for fitting and associated sale of tyres and car parts (including MOT); 

and (iv) Plumbers and Building Merchants), together with the erection of 1no. 

unit (Use Class A3/A5) and the creation of new access and parking.  Approved 

19/11/15. 

16



vi. DOV/17/00305 – Erection of a detached flat roof building for use as a leisure 

centre (Use Class D2, 5,700sqm internal floor area), together with two external 

5-aside football pitches, and associated parking, external lighting and 

landscaping.  Approved 18/08/17. 

vii. DOV/17/00500 – Erection of 1 no. building containing 3 no. units for Class 

B2/B8 use (with ancillary trade counter(s)) and sui generis use(s) within the 

specified categories: (i) Storage, distribution of sales of tiles, floor coverings, 

bathroom and kitchen furniture and fittings and other building materials; (ii) 

Machinery, tool and plant hire; (iii) Auto Centre for fitting and associated sale of 

tyres and car parts (Inc. MOT); and (iv) Plumbers and Building Merchants) and 

1 no. unit (Use Class A3/A5, together with the creation of new access and 

parking).  Approved 23/07/17.   

viii. DOV/17/00823 – Erection of a detached storage building (Use Class B8), 

creation of vehicular access, parking and landscaping.  Approved 09/10/17. 

Land adjacent to Lidl, east of Honeywood Parkway, part of Phase 2 White Cliffs 

Business Park 

ix. DOV/19/00964 – The erection of a building for use as a gym (Class D2), a drive-

thru restaurant/coffee shop (Class A1/A3/A5) and 2 no units for Class B2 and/or 

B8 use (with ancillary trade counters and sui-generis uses), together with the 

creation of a new access, parking arrangements, outside storage and servicing 

area with associated works.  Approved 20/01/20.  

Bus Rapid Transit Route 

x. DOV/20/01048 (KCC/DO/0178/2020) – Creation of two new sections of road 

as dedicated Bus Rapid Transit route for buses, cyclists and pedestrians only. 

Section 1 - New road, 1km in length, connecting Whitfield Urban Expansion to 

Tesco roundabout at Honeywood Parkway via new overbridge over A2. Access 

to bridge will be controlled by bus gates. Section 2 - New road, 1.1km in length, 

connecting B&Q roundabout on Honeywood Parkway to Dover Road, near Frith 

Farm, with access to Dover Road controlled by a bus gate. Providing access to 

future phases of White Cliffs Business Park at Dover Fastrack.  KCC application 

- Not yet determined. 

  

17



e) Consultee Responses 

As this report is to consider the response of Local Planning Authority to the Department 

for Transport’s consultation on the proposed IBF development, pursuant to the SDO, 

consultee responses are focussed to those from DDC (internal consultees) plus 

consultant transport advice. 

The SDO requires the DfT to also consult Parish Councils, Environment Agency, 

Highways England, Historic England, Natural England, Kent County Council (KCC) (as 

local authority and Local Highway Authority), and relevant owners and occupiers of 

other properties (i.e. nearby and surrounding residents and businesses).  These 

parties should be responding separately to this engagement. 

Transport Consultant  

A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application, which was the 

subject of pre-application scoping with Kent County Council Highways and 

Transportation (KCC H&T) and Highways England (HE). In view of the limited 

timescales for this consultation and the importance of highway matters to the proposal, 

it was considered necessary to seek highway consultant advice to assist the local 

planning authority’s assessment of the scheme. The conclusions arising from this 

inform the comments below.  

Whilst the site access strategy is sound and supported in principle, there is a lack of 

detail in the TA with regard to critical aspects such as advance directional signage, on-

site operations, emergency access etc., which reduces the confidence that can be 

placed on the strategy in practice. Indeed, no assessment has been made in the TA of 

a ‘disruption’ scenario, on the optimistic assumption that trader readiness will no longer 

be an issue beyond June 2021.  

The TA states that further detail will be provided within a forthcoming Operational 

Management Plan (OMP); however in view of the short order in which on-site 

operations are expected to commence, it is considered that the OMP should be 

provided for review as soon as possible. In addition to the details referenced above, 

this should include vehicle swept path analysis of the proposed site layout, outline 

details of the proposed construction traffic management strategy and a Staff Travel 

Plan. 

18



A particular concern relates to the potential for HGVs to block back from the site access 

to Honeywood Parkway, which would have the potential to delay Dover Fastrack 

services as well as existing users of White Cliffs Business Park. Whilst the indication 

is that this would be mitigated by the provision of 12 ‘swim lanes’ – where incoming 

HGVs will be processed – these will be located beyond an initial security check post 

close to the site access, which could itself be a source of delay. Additional information 

and clarification is therefore required on this point in particular. 

It is critical that the routing of HGVs to and from the A2 at the Whitfield Interchange is 

actively managed and enforced, particularly during the initial period of IBF operation. 

Experience from the Sevington and Waterbrook facilities in Ashford has shown that 

reliance on signage alone is insufficient to avoid HGV drivers becoming disoriented, 

with associated negative consequences for local residents and businesses.  

A further significant omission from the TA is confirmation of the total IBF staffing 

numbers. Until this is provided, it is not possible to verify whether the proposed level 

of on-site parking is sufficient. It has been assumed that the shift changeover times for 

IBF staff will fall outside of the traditional weekday peak hours and therefore no 

allowance has been made for staff trips in the highway capacity assessments 

presented.     

It is understood that not all inbound and outbound HGVs will need to use IBFs and that 

over time, the private sector will increasingly take over these operations on new and 

existing sites elsewhere. The HGV daily trip generation assessment and temporal 

profile presented in the TA is based on profiled ferry crossing information for the Port 

of Dover and other UK ports from October 2019. This data has been used to inform 

forecast demand at the IBF, taking into account the journey time between the site and 

the port. Whilst this methodology is agreeable in principle, clarification is required as 

to whether the October 2019 ferry crossing data is representative of pre-Covid vessel 

movements. Moreover, it is recommended that sensitivity assessments are 

undertaken, to account for scenarios where ferries arrive/depart in close succession 

during (or following) periods of disruption.  

In terms of HGV trip distribution, drivers will have a free choice as to which IBF to visit 

and therefore a reasonable proportion of inbound and outbound HGVs via the Port of 

Dover will use alternative sites (e.g. Ashford, Ebbsfleet or North Weald in Essex). The 

TA makes the robust assumption that only 35% of HGVs visiting the Whitfield IBF will 

be ordinarily using the A2/M2 route to and from the Port of Dover, which is welcomed.  

19



However, of the remaining 65%, it is assumed that only half would switch their chosen 

route to the A2/M2 corridor. This is considered particularly doubtful in respect to 

outbound HGVs, as it is highly unlikely that some 32.5% would travel via the A20/M20 

corridor and past the port to access the IBF, before returning to the port for departure. 

In view of the length of this diversion and the associated time penalty for ‘just in time’ 

hauliers, it is considered that these HGVs would in fact also reassign to the A2/M2 

corridor.  

The TA identifies that Whitfield Roundabout is a significant crash cluster location and 

that it will experience a notable intensification of use by HGVs associated with the IBF. 

This is shown to exacerbate the over-capacity operation of both the existing and future 

(signalised) junction layouts and on this basis, it is considered that further mitigation is 

required at this location. 

Similarly, mitigation is considered necessary at the Duke of York Roundabout, where 

the TA forecasts an increase in queue lengths on the A258 Castle Hill Road approach 

of some 22 vehicles – and an associated increase in average delay per vehicle of over 

a minute – in the 2025 PM peak hour. This evidently represents a ‘severe’ residual 

impact on the operation of the junction, with the consequent potential for driver 

frustration and unsafe manoeuvres.   

In summary, whilst the fundamental components of the highways and transportation 

strategy for the IBF are considered sound, there is a need for additional information 

and clarification in a number of areas; most notably with respect to on-site operations 

and traffic management, to ensure that off-site impacts are minimised. There is also a 

need for sensitivity assessments of reasonable ‘worst case’ scenarios, to provide 

confidence that these can be planned for and accommodated as effectively as 

possible.  

DDC Environmental Protection Officer 

Information on matters of air quality from the consultant team promoting the proposed 

IBF has been requested at the start of the engagement period and is still being sought.  

If received ahead of Council, members will be updated accordingly at the meeting.   

Information on noise has been received, but only late in the engagement period.  

Officers’ consideration of this will be reported to Council in an update. 

DDC Natural Environment Officer 

20



The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) and Habitat Regulations 

Assessment (HRA) screening assessment report have been considered. 

The findings and recommendations of the PEA are accepted. In summary, it advised 

that: 

• the land is of low ecological value, (being an arable field) and that there are 

limited habitat opportunities for protected species;  

• the only priority habitat identified was hedgerow, but most of that will be 

retained; and  

• further survey work for bats may be needed if the identified trees and military 

structures cannot be retained. This potential survey work may need to be 

completed during this winter (hibernation surveys) and during the following 

spring/summer (dusk emergence/dawn re-entry surveys for transitional or 

maternity roosts). A decision therefore needs to be made soon as to whether 

these features can be retained and protected from disturbance. 

A number of mitigation measures have been proposed such as a bat sensitive lighting 

scheme along with suggested ecological enhancements. The report recommends that 

a biodiversity net gain assessment is carried out. This recommendation is agreed.  

It is important that the applicant uses the latest DEFRA metric to complete an 

assessment which aims to demonstrate at least a 10% net gain, above the ecological 

baseline, will be achieved , (in line with forthcoming legislative requirements and 

current policy requirements of the NPPF; although the latter does not state a minimum 

percentage). 

The HRA screening assessment identifies likely significant effects (when acting alone), 

on three European designated sites, in relation to air quality impacts during the 

operational phase of the proposal. The screening thresholds of changes in annual 

average daily traffic (AADT) of 1000 vehicles a day or more, and heavy-duty vehicle 

flows changes by 200 AADT or more, are exceeded.  

These designated sites are: 

• Dover to Kingsdown Cliffs (SAC) (1.54km south east). 

• Lydden and Temple Ewell Downs (SAC) (2.59km west). 

• North Down Woodlands (SAC) (53.8km north west) 

21



Although North Down Woodlands (SAC) is some distance from the Site, it has been 

included due to its proximity to the affected road network and the exceedance of the 

screening threshold.  

The HRA will therefore need to proceed to Stage 2 Appropriate Assessment, by the 

competent authority. 

DDC Tree Officer 

Satisfied that whilst the scheme necessitates the removal of arboricultural features 

throughout the site, the overall loss of tree stock and resultant impact on landscape 

will be low. The survey undertaken and Arboricultural Impact Assessment identifies 

those trees and hedges to be removed as low quality with an estimated life span of no 

more than 20 years. The proposed planting of a 10 metre landscape buffer within the 

site and along selected boundaries will act to enhance the site in terms of tree stock 

and should be comprised of a range native species to ensure that the benefits to 

wildlife are maximised.  

The Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Retention and Removals plans set out 

how those trees to be retained will be protected. These measures are deemed to be 

satisfactory and as such it is imperative that all measures set out are secured and 

adhered to ensure that the scheme does not impact on the trees flagged for retention. 

DDC Heritage Officer 

Information relating to above ground heritage assets within the historic environment 

has been reviewed. 

There are no designated heritage assets within the site and no above ground heritage 

assets would be physically affected by the proposed development.  However the 

setting of a number of assets is likely to be affected. These comprise:  

• Duke of York Royal Military School, Grade II listed: West Entrance Lodges, 

Gates. The lodges are located adjacent to the south-east site boundary. The 

lodges are of high significance. Despite an impact on views outward towards 

the west, the main aspects of the lodges setting, is its relationship with the rest 

of the listed structures which make up the Royal Military School, located to the 

east and would not be impacted. There would also be no impact on the lodge’s 

relationship to Dover Road; 

22



• World War II Pillbox, non-designated heritage.  A Type 24 Pillbox located within 

the southern part of the site. The proposed IBF development would impact the 

setting of this non-designated heritage asset. The pillbox is located within a 

rural setting, and has a location likely to have provided a visual vantage point 

and strategic advantage.  This position contributes to its significance. The 

proposed development would significantly change the immediate setting of the 

pillbox, introducing new buildings and roads and increasing the lighting, noise 

and traffic in its immediate environment. 

• Frith Farm, non-designated heritage. Historic farmstead dating to the 19th 

century which has been much altered. Located on the eastern boundary of the 

Site, off Dover Road. The proposed IBF development would impact the setting 

of the farmstead – enclosing its west and southern sides, removing rural views 

which contribute to its significance. Development would also permanently 

remove the agricultural fields to the west and north of the farm which are 

historically associated with the complex. 

There is a wider study area of historical significance, including Dover Castle and Fort 

Burgoyne (both are nationally important archaeological sites), for which consultation 

with Historic England is required.  But comments here are that: 

• Dover Castle, Scheduled Monument, is 1.4km to the south east of the Site, with 

extensive panoramic views to the north that contribute to its significance. 

However, the distance from the Site, rising landscape and a thick tree belt 

prevent any direct intervisibility.  

• Fort Burgoyne, Scheduled Monument, is a mid-19th century Palmerston fort 

located 750m to the south-east of the Site. It is of very high significance. Whilst 

views from the Fort towards the Site are obscured by groups of mature trees 

and rising land, there would likely still be some intervisibility and changes to 

longer-distance views. 

The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment includes extensive photographs 

indicatively showing significant views in and outside of the Site, which can be 

considered with the general arrangement drawing.  But there is no detailed information 

showing the height and massing of proposed buildings and structures, as well as any 

lighting scheme.  This information is essential to fully understand the impact of the 

proposed development on the historic character and setting of the heritage assets.  

23



(Archaeological issues are being dealt with by KCC) 

 

DDC Head of Inward Investment and Tourism 

White Cliffs Business Park (WCBP) has long been designated as a strategic allocation 

for employment purposes for the Dover area; also being widely recognised as one of 

the main allocations in the wider East Kent area.   

Development at WCBP has taken place in phases, commencing with Phase 1 in the 

1980’s running through to the present day where the bulk of Phase 2 is now 

substantially complete. While the expectation has been that WCBP would provide 

specific employment and logistic sector related activity (Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) 

a number of wider, but nonetheless, employment generating uses have been also 

permitted.  Specific exceptions to Policy have also previously been made through the 

earlier approvals of Tesco and B&Q, where the contributions made to infrastructure at 

WCBP - the provision of Honeywood Parkway - has benefitted the wider employment 

base that exists today.   

WCBP remains a premier location for employment given both the quantum of 

remaining allocated land and relationship and accessibility to the main road 

network.  The Land Allocations Local Plan includes land of WCBP Phase 3 (as well as 

Phase 2), the subject of the proposed Inland Border Facility (IBF). 

As was the case with WCBP Phase 1 and Phase 2, the provision of additional 

infrastructure remains a key consideration in relation to further development at Phase 

3. The proposal for a new access road in the form of the Dover Fastrack/BRT scheme 

would facilitate a possible connection to the IBF.  It would also open up the prospect 

of the remaining portion of Phase 2 coming forward earlier than would otherwise be 

the case. 

While there is a desire to see stronger future economic performance in Dover District, 

the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has brought this need firmly into focus.  There is 

now an even more pressing requirement for employment opportunities as the area 

seeks to recover from the impacts of the pandemic. 

Analysis from KCC’s Data Intelligence Unit indicates that current employment levels in 

Dover district show a total of 4,605 people unemployed (November 2020), an 

unemployment rate of 6.6% of the available workforce.  Significantly, this represents 

24



an 89% increase of 2,170 people over the previous year. For the Dover area, 

unemployment is significantly worse, where four wards have unemployment levels 

from 7.6% to 19.3%. 

It is expected that unemployment will continue to grow as the effects of the Covid-19 

pandemic continue to escalate. 

It is understood that the IBF will require a range of specialist and supporting 

employment needs arising from its operational requirements.  While precise job 

numbers are still to be confirmed, the indications are that several hundred will be 

required.   

(It is noted that Ashford Borough Council, in a recent announcement, estimates that 

around 130 jobs will be required to support the Port Health requirements at the IBF in 

their area.  The precise number of required for this function at the IBF at WCBF is 

expected to be approaching a 100 jobs.) 

Plans for the IBF indicate staff car parking areas of 160 and 212 spaces plus cycle 

facilities.  Taking into account the expected Port Health jobs, this suggests a significant 

number of jobs, notwithstanding the potential for employees to walk, cycle if use public 

transport. 

Overall, the provision of major investment in infrastructure and early job creation in the 

Dover locality is to be particularly welcomed at this time. 

DDC Head of Community and Digital Services 

Crime prevention approaches should be incorporated in large scale developments.  

Even simple changes can be effective in reducing crime (for example, improving street 

lighting, managing through put in public venues, introducing CCTV and enhanced 

security checks and/or patrolling), impacting on acquisitive crime in a positive way. 

Evidence suggests that an increase in static vehicles (with specific reference to HGVs) 

may lead to an increase in freight theft, issues around drug related crime, criminal 

exploitation and organised crime, people trafficking, prostitution etc.  However if from 

the outset suitable design measures are both implemented and advertised strongly 

this scan help dissipate any potential criminal impact.  

There is already an emphasis on 'designing out' crime through the Secure by Design 

scheme and this has been shown to be effective.  

25



The Dover Community Safety Partnership strongly advocate that any reference of 

'well-designed' should extend to seeking to minimise the opportunities for crime and 

enhance joint working to improve the built environment for the benefits of both ‘users’ 

and our local communities, ensuring the ongoing ‘safety’ of the Dover District. 

 

f) The Site and the Proposal   

The Site 

1.1 The site for the proposed IBF comprises land between Honeywood Parkway to the 

west, Dover Road to the east, and the A2 to the north (“the Site”). The southern edge 

of the Site to be developed is bounded by the proposed Dover Fastrack bus route 

between Dover Road and Honeywood Parkway. There is a further area of land south 

of this which it is understood will be used as a construction site. 

1.2 The site measures approximately 37.6 hectares in size, comprising open fields in 

agricultural use (mix of Grade 2 and 3 land).   

1.3 The Site is divided east/west by Roman Road (running north-south), which is also the 

route of the North Downs Way (NDW) National Trail that connects Farnham in Surrey 

to Canterbury and on to Dover. 

1.4 The Site undulates, gently falling from west to east.  From the NDW as it crosses the 

Site, there is intervisibility to the current development at White Cliffs Business Park (to 

the west) and towards the houses on Dover Road (to the east).  To the south of the 

Site, there are a series of other fields with treed/hedged boundaries, before the 

topography falls steeply towards Dover town centre and the coast.  

1.5 In the main the Site covers the land allocated for employment development under LALP 

Policy LA2 – part of White Cliffs Business Park Phase 2 and White Cliffs Business Park 

Phase 3. 

1.6 The Site does not fall within a conservation area or contain any designated heritage 

asset. It is outside the Kent Downs AONB, and within flood zone 1 (land at least risk of 

flooding). 

26



1.7 A Site location plan is at Figure 2; and an aerial photo of the Site and surrounding area 

is Figure 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.8 To the west of the Site are other parts of White Cliffs Business Park, including 

employment uses, a large Tesco store and the Council Offices, served off Honeywood 

Parkway and Honeywood Road as it connects to Whitfield Roundabout.  

Figure 2: Site Location Plan 

B&Q 

Tesco 

A2 

Dover 
Road 

Roman 
Road 

Figure 3: Site and Surrounding Context 

Houses 

27



1.9 To the east, beyond Dover Road, is the Duke of York’s Royal Military School, then 

open agricultural land which, east of the A258, is within the Kent Downs AONB until 

the coast some 2km away.   

1.10 To the north west, beyond the A2, is the area of expansion for Whitfield (see Policy 

CP11) as it grows towards the A256. 

1.11 To the south of the Site are open fields and hedgerow boundaries, as the land falls 

towards Connaught Park and the Dover town centre.  

Proposed Development 

1.12 The proposed IBF development includes: 

• the construction of a roadway along the southern edge of the built development 

between Honeywood Parkway and Dover Road; 

• vehicular access to enter the Site at its western end off the new roadway; 

• an initial entry and security check area just beyond the access; 

• an initial HGV holding area, referred to as swim lanes, to the west of Roman 

Road.  12 swim lanes would each hold eight HGVs.  Above the swim lanes 

would be a gantry to a maximum height of 10.3m; 

• the construction of buildings to the east of Roman Road, of up to 8m in height, 

to be used for vehicle inspections and offices by HMRC and DEFRA; 

• the construction of a car park to the north of the built compound for HMRC staff 

(212 spaces) and to the south for DEFRA staff (160 spaces); 

• an access for the DEFRA staff car park onto the new roadway; 

• HGV parking bays in the eastern part of the Site – 30 associated with the 

DEFRA inspection area and 170 for general use; 

• access on the Site’s southern boundary, onto the new roadway, for HGVs to 

leave the IBF; 

• 2m high security fence near to the Site’s eastern boundary;  

• lighting columns across the Site up to 8m in height; 

28



• landscaped bund and planting along the eastern edge of the Site; and 

• surface water attenuation basin in the north east corner of the Site and various 

other attenuation features. 

1.13 A schematic arrangement of the proposed IBF development is at Figure 4, and draft 

plans showing the preferred layout and general masterplan with areas of landscaping 

are at Appendix 2. 

1.14 The IBF development would be temporary for a period until December 2025, 

whereafter (under the SDO) the Site would need to be reinstated in accordance with 

details to be submitted to and approved by the ‘Secretary of Secretary of State for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government’ in due course. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Figure 4: Schematic Layout of Proposed IBF 

29



g) Assessment of Main Issues 

2.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are: 

• land use 

• highways and transport 

• landscape and visual impacts 

• design and landscaping 

• ecology 

• heritage 

• archaeology  

• noise 

• air quality 

• flood risk and drainage 

• climate change measures 

Land Use 

2.2 The Site comprises part of DDC’s strategic supply of employment land at White Cliffs 

Business Park, allocated by LALP Policy LA2 for development within former Class B1 

(office, research & development, or light industrial) (now Class E)., Class B2 (general 

industrial) and Class B8 (storage or distribution) uses, as well as for other employment 

generating uses 

2.3 Whilst the proposed IBF development does not fall into any specific class of land use, 

and was not envisaged by the current Core Strategy and LALP, it would still generate 

employment and create jobs. 

2.4 Consultation information identifies various jobs in connection with the operation of the 

proposed IBF development, including inspection, security and traffic management 

staff, as well as roles of administration and site management.  The IBF would operate 

24 hours a day requiring three eight-hour shift patterns.  Information explains that local 

recruitment is ongoing to fulfil the employment need, but a total number of jobs to be 

created has not been given.  There will also be job opportunities in the construction of 

the development. 

2.5 DDC’s Head of Inward Investment and Tourism considers the likely level of direct job 

creation, including those associated with the Port Health Authority, to be several 

hundred.  Placed in the context of the current unemployment rate for Dover District 

30



(6.6%), which is much greater (up to 19.3%) in some wards of the Dover area, and the 

expected increase in unemployment from the economic effects of the Covid-19 

pandemic, the level of employment by the IBF is significant.  The Head of Inward 

Investment and Tourism welcomes such job creation. 

2.6 Whilst the number of jobs from the IBF might be fewer than otherwise would be 

expected with some other forms of employment development on the Site (although 

without numbers a more accurate comparison cannot be made), it is relevant that these 

jobs are being proposed now and other development on that part of the employment 

allocation has not so far come forward.  Overall, the job creation of the IBF is 

considered consistent with that objective of LALP Policy LA2. 

2.7 In terms of the supply of employment land within the District, the proposed IBF is 

temporary until December 2025, after which the Site must be reinstated in accordance 

with the SDO.  In this scenario the Site would then again be available for other 

development in accordance with its employment allocation and infrastructure to assist 

this would already be in place.  Should however a permanent facility be sought on the 

Site in the future (which would require a separate planning application to be considered 

by the Local Planning Authority), any implications of this on the strategic supply of 

employment land in the District could be assessed at that time.   

Highways and Transport  

2.8 The draft Transport Assessment (TA) identifies that the proposed IBF would have an 

overall capacity of up to 550 HGVs, covering the swim lane entry system and 

inspection areas, with a peak daily forecast of 1,575 HGVs (or 3,150 two way 

movements) based on information by HMRC and DEFRA of the intended users of the 

IBF and ferry crossing information for the Port of Dover. The Planning Statement 

identifies that most vehicles will be present on the site for an average of 2 hours but 

those requiring further inspections will be there for an average of 6 hours. 

Access to the Site 

2.9 Access to the site would be via the A2/A256 Whitfield Interchange, Honeywood 

Parkway, then a new southern access road consistent with the route of the Dover 

Fastrack / BRT route.  DDC’s transport consultant advises that the access strategy is 

sound and can be supported in principle, but further detail and information should be 

provided to ensure its operation is robust, including: 

31



• how the routing of HGVs to and from the A2 at the Whitfield Interchange would 

be actively managed and enforced; 

• what advance directional signage would be provided; 

• emergency access arrangements; 

• swept path analysis of vehicle tracking for the proposed layout;  

• adequacy of the swim lane provision and operation of the initial security post to 

prevent the backing up of vehicles onto the Fastrack / BRT route or wider 

highway; and 

• sensitivity analysis of the schedule of ferry arrivals at the Port of Dover. 

2.10 In terms of promoting sustainable travel for staff employed on the Site, a detailed and 

enforceable Staff Travel Plan with measurable objectives should be provided.  

Commitment has been made that there will be a dedicated minibus service for staff, to 

provide greater accessibility and a more sustainable mode of travel. 

Wider Highway Network 

2.11 The proposed IBF itself would not generate additional HGV trips to or from Dover Port, 

rather it would provide customs and other checks for vehicles already travelling through 

the Port.  However the development would affect the movement of HGVs around Dover 

in two key ways: 

• for HGVs accessing the IBF and using the A20/M20 corridor, there would be 

additional movements between the Site and the Port of Dover, with vehicles 

travelling along Jubilee Way, through the Duke of York Roundabout and the 

Whitfield interchange; and  

• some HGVs would divert from the A20/M20 corridor onto the A2/M2 because 

of the need to access the IBF. 

2.12 This change to HGV movements has been modelled by the draft Transport 

Assessment (TA), based on the peak daily forecast HGV movements and assumed 

proportion of vehicles that would use the A2/M2 or A20/M20 corridor.   

2.13 The modelling shows that the Whitfield Roundabout will experience a notable 

intensification of use by HGVs associated with the IBF (notwithstanding some 

32



assumptions which may prove optimistic as set out in the comments above), which 

would exacerbate current issues of safety and over-capacity.  Similarly, development 

would significantly increase queue lengths on the A258 Castle Hill approach to the 

Duke of York Roundabout, with the consequent potential for driver frustration and 

unsafe manoeuvres on that junction.   

2.14 DDC’s transport consultant advises that improvements to traffic conditions at both 

these junctions are necessary to mitigate the impact of the proposed IBF; and without 

such works its residual impact would be severe in conflict with paragraph 109 of the 

Framework and Policies CP6 and DM12 of the adopted Core Strategy. 

Car Parking 

2.15 In terms of what level of car parking is required across the Site, this will depend on the 

number of staff employed, their modes of travel, and how peak demand at shift change 

over times is managed.  KCC as Local Highway Authority should consider and respond 

accordingly to the consultation on the appropriateness of the car parking being 

proposed. 

2.16 Access to the HMRC car park is through the main HGV entrance, whilst the DEFRA 

car park has a separate entrance off the new roadway.  To avoid conflict between 

HMRC staff cars and HGVs, access to both car parks should be provided from the 

DEFRA entrance.  

Landscape and Visual Impacts  

2.17 There is a draft Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) for the proposed 

IBF, to consider the impact of the development on the surrounding landscape and 

specific visual receptors.  This takes account of the current baseline as well as future 

development at Whitfield and the Fastrack / BRT scheme. 

Landscape  

2.18 The surrounding landscape within the District Landscape Character Area of Guston 

Hills, comprises large arable and pastoral fields, overlooking the built up areas of 

Dover, as well as other parts of the White Cliffs Business Park, the Duke of York Royal 

Military School and Burgoyne Heights.  The LVIA considers it to have moderate / 

medium value, susceptibility to change and sensitivity. 

33



2.19 At night time, the LVIA considers the Site and surrounding landscape is already 

experienced in the context of existing light sources from roadside and vehicle lights; 

floodlights at White Cliffs Business Park and the Duke of York Royal Military School; 

nearby residential properties; and sky glow from Whitfield and Dover.  Accordingly, the 

LVIA considers the landscape to be of low sensitivity to the introduction of further 

sources of lighting. 

2.20 In this context, the LVIA assesses the overall landscape effect of the proposed IBF 

development to be minor adverse during the construction and operational phases of 

development. 

2.21 For night time effects, the LVIA also considers the impact to be minor adverse.  

However, as a detailed lighting scheme has not yet been seen by Officers, a more 

detailed assessment of the lighting impact of the proposed IBF development is 

considered essential. 

Visual Effects 

2.22 The LVIA identifies a number of visual receptors with high sensitivity comprising the 

NDW and other Public Rights of Way; residential properties on Dover Road / St 

Martin’s Road and at Guston; Connaught Park; and Dover Castle.  From these 

receptors, LVIA considers the greatest effects of development to be ‘moderate 

adverse’ in respect of the NDW, and ‘minor adverse’ from the residential properties on 

Dover Road / St Martin’s Road and at Guston. 

2.23 These conclusions take account of the design and landscape mitigation measures of 

the proposed IBF development including: 

• the avoidance of built form and hardstanding closest to the residential 

properties to the east; 

• creation of a landscape buffer along the eastern Site boundary to help screen 

the development from the outlook of the adjacent residential properties; 

• the diversion of the NDW through the eastern landscape buffer; 

• limiting the height of proposed buildings to 8m; and 

• providing a new landscape planting to improve the visual appearance of 

development. 

34



Residential Amenities 

2.24 Beyond the findings of the LVIA, the impact of the proposed IBF on the general outlook 

and visual amenities of the closest residential properties on Dover Road and St 

Martin’s Road to the east of the Site is considered in more detail. 

2.25 Some of these houses currently have open views across the Site towards Roman 

Road, which would change as a result of the proposed IBF.  In response to this 

sensitivity, a 2m high and 13m wide landscape bund is proposed along the eastern 

boundary of the Site, which would be vegetated with trees and lower level planting.   

2.26 The operational part of the development would also be a significant distance of 

approximately 120m from the nearest houses, with an area of grassland between the 

bund and the proposed HGV parking. 

2.27 A cross section showing the proposed bund and separation between the nearest 

houses and the development is provided at Appendix 2. 

2.28 This approach in principle is considered capable of maintaining an appropriate outlook 

from these properties.  But it is considered the bund should be taller to a height of at 

least 3m and that the 2m high security fence is placed inside the bund so it is screened 

from the adjacent residents and users of the PROW or closer to the noise sources to 

the west. 

2.29 Matters of noise from the proposed IBF development are addressed further in this 

report. 

North Down Way National Trail and Byway ER60 

2.30 The current route of the NDW, which is also Byway ER60, is shown at Figure 5 as it 

follows Roman Road to the north of the A2, then kinks to the east to cross the A2 on 

Dover Road, before routing back to Roman Road, southwards to Connaught Park and 

the centre of Dover. 

2.31 Whilst the proposed IBF would maintain the alignment of Roman Road with a buffer 

on either side, the NDW is proposed to be diverted.  The diversion would start from 

where the NDW currently crosses the A2 on Dover Road, for it to pass through the 

landscaped area on the eastern side of the Site, then run beneath the southern access 

road (proposed Fastrack / BRT route), before re-joining its current alignment on Roman 

Road.  This diversion is also shown at Figure 5. 

35



2.32 It is recognised that some importance and historic significance of the NDW would be 

lost by diverting it from Roman Road, and that the alternative route would be set within 

a less mature landscaped setting alongside the IBF boundary fence and closer to 

nearby residential and farm buildings.  However, given this would only be for a 

temporary period (as proposed until reinstatement works are completed by December 

2026) and the NDW (as well as Byway ER60) is capable of being diverted back to 

Roman Road in due course, the proposed alternative route is considered an 

appropriate solution at this stage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.33 The Rights of Way Officer has confirmed in discussion that KCC is also agreeable to 

the temporary diversion of the NDW and Byway ER60 as proposed, subject to further 

details in respect of its surface treatment, width, screening from the development, and 

landscape treatment. 

2.34 Officers are aware of work by the AONB Unit to seek an alternative and potentially 

permanent rerouting of the NDW, westwards from its current alignment to pass through 

Figure 5: Existing and Proposed Route of North Downs Way 

Existing NDW 

Rerouting of 
NDW 

36



Ringwould and St Margaret’s Bay, before making its way along the White Cliffs of 

Dover.  Officers would wish to be kept informed of this by the AONB Unit as its plans 

may progress, but such an alternative route does not form part of the proposed IBF 

development. Should this ultimately occur officers consider that a route through the 

WCBP site should still be provided for local access reasons. 

Design and Landscaping 

2.35 The layout design of the proposed IBF seeks to balance its operational needs and the 

constraints of the Site.  Most notably is the buffer area and landscape screening within 

the eastern part of the Site, closest to the nearest residential properties. 

2.36 Matters of residential amenity are considered above, but from a landscape perspective 

the areas of open grassland should be better utilised with more biodiverse planting, 

which would also further screen the operational parts of the Site from near and wider 

views. 

2.37 At the junction between Honeywood Parkway, the access roadway and HGV entrance 

into the Site, the proposed wildflower grassland is welcomed, but there is opportunity 

to provide some larger more structural tree planting here to the wider improvement of 

White Cliffs Business Park. 

2.38 Likewise, additional tree planting should also be provided along the access roadway, 

which not only will benefit the IBF but improve the future setting of the Fastrack / BRT 

route. 

2.39 Elevation details of the proposed buildings have not been provided, other than they 

would be no greater than 8m in height.  But in keeping with their intended use to 

facilitate the inspection of HGVs, they are likely to be robust with an industrial 

appearance.   

2.40 The external appearance of the buildings is very important, but yet no information on 

that has been provided.  Therefore it is recommended that external materials be agreed 

in consultation with DDC, which should be dark in colour so to blend in with the 

surrounding landscape. 

 

 

37



Ecology 

2.41 In relation to protected ecology on and adjacent to the Site and within the wider area, 

the draft Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) and Habitat Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) screening assessment report have been considered. 

2.42 Advice from DDC’s Natural Environment Officer is that the Site, as open agricultural 

land, is of low ecological value with limited habitat opportunities for protected species.  

The greatest sensitivity on the Site is in relation to bats, but subject to further survey 

work, mitigation measures including sensitive lighting are available. 

2.43 An overall measurable 10% net gain in biodiversity on the Site should be achieved 

against the DEFRA metric. 

2.44 For three identified European designated sites of ecological importance, the HRA 

screening assessment finds that further work through an Appropriate Assessment will 

be required to consider the impacts of the proposed IBF development on their 

conservation objectives and integrity.  This Appropriate Assessment will need to be 

considered by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

as part of the ‘relevant approval’ application. 

Built Heritage 

2.45 A Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment has been considered by DDC’s 

Heritage Officer, which confirms there are no designated heritage assets on the Site 

itself. 

2.46 In relation to the setting of the designed built assets, there would be some impact to 

the Grade II listed West Entrance Lodges, Gates and Wall at the Duke of York Royal 

Military School, and some change to longer distance views from Fort Burgoyne 

(Scheduled Monument).  These impacts are considered to result in less than 

substantial harm to each heritage asset, but should still be balanced against the public 

benefits of the IBF by Secretary of State. 

2.47 For the most sensitive Dover Castle (Scheduled Monument and Grade I listed building) 

the intervening topography and vegetation prevents any direct intervisibility. 

2.48 The Historic Environment Desk Based Assessment identifies that the proposed IBF 

would have a substantial impact on the setting of the non-designated assets of a World 

War II pillbox and Firth Farm.  Officers consider the Roman Road is also a non-

38



designated asset, which would have a direct and setting impact on its significance.  

This harm should be taken into account and balanced by the Secretary of State in 

considering the environmental effects of the IBF. 

2.49 Closer the Site the IBF would have some impact on the Grade II listed West Entrance 

Lodges, Gates and Wall at the Duke of York Royal Military School, this would not harm 

its heritage significance. 

Archaeology 

2.50 Whilst matters of archaeology within Kent are addressed by the County Council, who 

will be responding separately to the proposed IBF consultation, an update to Officers 

at DDC has been provided by the Archaeological Officer.   

2.51 It is understood that: 

• several technical studies relating to the Site’s archaeological interest have been 

prepared to assess and evaluate its archaeological potential.  These include 

Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment, a detailed geophysical survey, 

and a Written Scheme of Investigation; 

• the results of the geophysical survey have been seen, and programme of field 

evaluation (trial trenching) is currently underway; 

• the trial trenching should inform the likely environmental effects of the 

development and inform a mitigation strategy that allows for the ‘preservation 

and safeguarding’ or ‘investigation and recording’ of any archaeological 

remains; 

• a particular focus of the trial trenching is to identify any nationally important 

archaeological remains that may be present.  Based on the assessments 

carried out to date it is considered that the likelihood of such nationally 

important remains is not very high, although cannot yet be entirely ruled-out; 

and 

• at least one WW2 pillbox survives within the site and another lies adjacent to 

the southern boundary of the site, as part of a network defences when German 

invasion was considered imminent. The proposed IBF should secure the 

protection of the pillbox(es) during construction and operation of development.  

39



Noise 

2.52 Information on matters of noise from the consultant team promoting the proposed IBF 

has been received, but only late in the engagement period.  Officers’ consideration of 

this will be reported to Council in an update at the meeting. 

2.53 Notwithstanding more detailed consideration of the information, it is considered an 

acoustic fence should be provided along the eastern edge of the HGV parking, to help 

attenuate any noise from that area. 

Air Quality 

2.54 Information on matters of air quality from the consultant team promoting the proposed 

IBF has been requested at the start of the engagement period and is still being sought.  

If received ahead of Council, members will be updated accordingly at the meeting. 

Drainage 

2.55 A draft surface water drainage strategy and layout across the Site has been provided.  

This included a network of swales around the edge of the built form and areas of 

hardstanding, which would then feed into an attenuation basin positioned in the north 

east corner.  Given the nature of the proposed use, shut off valves will be provided at 

appropriate locations in order to isolate and manage any accidental spills. 

2.56 Foul drainage will initially be collected within tanks on the Site, before the IBF is fully 

connected to the main sewer network. 

Climate Change Measures  

2.57 The proposed IBF should recognise the challenges of a changing climate and include 

measures to mitigate and adapt to that – to minimise vulnerability and improve 

resilience, as well as reducing emissions of carbon dioxide. 

2.58 As part of this DDC would expect that: 

• electric vehicle charging points to be provide at one for every 10 staff parking 

spaces; 

• tree planting to provide shade and relief from the sun is provided across the 

large proposed areas of hardstanding; 

40



• the proposed buildings on the Site achieve at least a 31% reduction in carbon 

emissions below the Target Emission Rate (TER) as set out in Building 

Regulations Part L (2013) 

• the proposed buildings meet a BREEAM 'Very Good' standard overall, 

including Very Good for addressing maximum energy efficiencies under the 

energy credits;  

• water efficiency measures are included to achieve the relevant BREEAM water 

credits; and 

• through consultation with KCC as Lead Local Flood Authority, the surface water 

drainage system includes appropriate allowances for climate change. 

 

g) Recommendation 

 

DDC as LPA would wish to see amendments to the scheme, or for additional 

information to be provided to address the following matters: 

a. that a mitigation package of highway improvements to reduce congestion and 

improve safety at the Whitfield Roundabout and Duke of York Roundabout is 

included with the submission for Relevant Approval and implemented to a 

programme to be agreed with the relevant authorities; 

b. that the initial security / check in post for HGVs, before the HMRC and DEFRA 

inspection areas, is repositioned to the south of the swim lanes, to 

reduce/eliminate any risk that HGVs queuing at this security / check in post 

might back up onto the new access roadway and wider road network with the 

potential to cause severe congestion including to Dover Fastrack buses; 

c. that a physical bus gate, comprising automatic collapsible bollards, is installed 

on the new access roadway to control and limit the Dover Road access to 

authorised buses and emergency vehicles only; 

d. that the access to the DEFRA staff car park also be available for those using 

the HMRC car park, to avoid conflict between staff vehicles and HGVs at the 

main HGV entrance; 

41



e. that a robust sensitivity analysis is carried out for ferry arrivals at the Port of 

Dover, where two or more ferries arrive close together, in respect of the 

resultant HGV movements and highway impacts to inform the off-site highway 

improvements identified at a;  

f. that details of traffic signage and routing controls are provided with the 

submission of information for Relevant Approval to include real-time advance 

electronic directional signage showing any operational issues at the site; 

g. that electric vehicle charging points are provided for the staff car parks at one 

for every 10 spaces; 

h. that a fully detailed proposed LED lighting scheme (including lux plot) is 

included with the submission for Relevant Approval, so landscape and visual 

impacts of the proposed IBF can be properly considered, and that no lighting is 

provided to the east of the lorry parking areas and no columns exceed 8m in 

height; 

i. that the height of the landscaped bund to the west of the houses on Dover Road 

/ St Martin’s Road is increased to at least 3m; and that the bund incorporates 

denser evergreen planting at lower and higher levels to ensure the proposed 

IBF is fully screened from the outlook of those residents; 

j. that a more biodiverse planting scheme, which would further help screen the 

operational development, is provided across the areas currently identified as 

‘cut grassland’ and ‘amenity grassland’ to include further areas of woodland 

edge planting to the east of the bund and west of the swim lanes; 

k. that tree planting is increased along the route of the proposed new 

roadway/BRT route; 

l. that the 2m security fence is re-positioned to inside the bund so it is not visible 

to nearby residents and users of the realigned North Downs Way National Trail; 

m. that an acoustic fence is positioned along the eastern edge of the HGV parking 

area, to help attenuate any noise from that area; 

n. that the HGV parking area is managed so vehicles are sequentially parked as 

far west into the Site as possible; 

42



o. that the HGV parking area is only lit in areas where vehicles are parked and 

only where and when it is necessary to do so; 

p. that the appearance of all buildings are agreed with the LPA before being 

constructed  and materials of the buildings are sympathetic to and would blend 

into the surrounding landscape, and would be least obtrusive in views across 

the Site and are not higher than 8m;  

q. that a measurable biodiversity net gain of at least 10% is achieved against the 

DEFRA metric; 

r. that further engagement with DDC on matters of noise and air quality is required 

before the submission for relevant approval; 

s. that there is meaningful engagement with DDC on the information and detail 

that is to be provided as a ‘construction management plan’ and ‘operational 

management plan’. 

t. tree planting to provide shade and relief from the sun is provided across 

proposed areas of hardstanding wherever possible; 

u. the proposed buildings on the Site achieve at least a 31% reduction in carbon 

emissions below the Target Emission Rate (TER) as set out in Building 

Regulations Part L (2013) 

v. the proposed buildings meet a BREEAM 'Very Good' standard overall, 

including Very Good for addressing maximum energy efficiencies under the 

energy credits;  

w. water efficiency measures are included to achieve the relevant BREEAM water 

credits;  

x. through consultation with KCC as Lead Local Flood Authority, the surface water 

drainage system includes appropriate allowances for climate change. 

y. That the WWII pill box is preserved. 

 

 

Report Authors:  Andrew Somerville, Paul Lulham, Lois Jarrett 

43



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP 
Secretary of State for Transport 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 

Leader’s Office 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872452 
e-mail: cllr-trevor.bartlett@dover.gov.uk 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
 

 
Councillor Trevor Bartlett 
Leader of the Council 
 
Direct Line: (01304) 872090 
Our Ref: RG/LJ/TB/DJD 
Your Ref:  

Date: 10 February 2021 

 

 

 

Dear Mr Shapps, 

 

Re: Government preparations for the end of the transition period with the EU - White 

Cliffs Inland Border Facility  

 

I would like to thank you for the opportunity you have given to Dover District Council as part 

of the engagement process to respond as the Local Authority with regards to the proposal to 

establish an Inland Border Facility (IBF) at White Cliffs Business Park, Dover. 

 

The Council notes that  the government has recognised the vital role that the Short Straits 

crossing plays as a key UK gateway for integrated supply chains and global deep-sea 

air/cargo distribution hubs transiting by road between the UK and mainland Europe and that 

ensuring fluidity and efficiency is crucial to this operation. 

 

The Council recognises the need to establish inland border facilities to ensure that effective 

border controls can be established now that the UK has left the European Union and welcomes 

the government’s decision to make this major investment in infrastructure at the White Cliffs 

Business Park (WCBP) recognising the potential this offers to provide significant employment 

opportunities and attract further investment to the District. 

 

The site chosen for the proposed development has been designated as employment land 

within the Local Plan for more than 20 years. Development at WCBP since then has taken 

place in phases, commencing with Phase 1 in the 1980’s running through to the present day 

where the bulk of Phase 2 is now substantially complete. The Council continues to see WCBP 

as a premier location for employment as set out in the Land Allocations Local Plan, which 

effectively incorporates WCBP Phase 3, the proposed location of the IBF. 

 

As was the case with WCBP Phases 1 and Phase 2, the provision of additional infrastructure 

has been a key consideration in bring forward development at Phase 3. The proposal for a 

new access road in the form of the Dover Fastrack/BRT scheme which, subject to achieving 

permission as standalone infrastructure, will facilitate access to the IBF was also intended to 

open-up access to Phase 3. As a local authority focused on delivering economic growth, we 

are keen to see the investment in this site acting as a catalyst for further economic investment 

in the locality. 

 

44



2 | P a g e  

 

The Council will of course have an active role to play in the operation of the IBF through its 

Port Health responsibilities and should the SDO be granted will be keen to work with the 

relevant agencies to further develop the Operational Management Plans for the site. 

 

However, whilst recognising the economic and employment benefits that this investment 

brings, the Council is equally aware that the construction of a facility of this size, all be it on 

land designated within the Local Plan for employment use, has inevitably raised many 

concerns with local residents and if not planned carefully, could adversely affect the Councils’ 

growth plans for the regeneration of Dover and the wider District. 

 

It is therefore vital that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to manage any 

adverse impacts that may potentially be caused by the White Cliffs IBF proposals and, there 

are four key areas of concern, on which the Council is seeking detailed discussion with the 

relevant government departments: 

 

1. Traffic Management and the impact on the growth agenda. 

 

As outlined above, the proposed access to the IBF is from the A2/A256 junction and 

then via the existing B&Q roundabout and Section 2 of the proposed Dover Fastrack 

scheme. 

 

The traffic modelling including within the Transport Assessment for the new facility 

makes it clear that the location of the IBF will inevitably lead to a significant increase 

in the use of the M2/A2 corridor by HGV traffic which is currently using the M20/A20. 

This has the potential to create significant traffic management issues on the local road 

network and in particular to further exacerbate the existing capacity issues at both the 

A258/A2 Duke of York’s Roundabout and the A2/ A256/Sandwich Road roundabout at 

Whitfield. 

 

The Council has had serious concerns regarding the capacity issues at these two 

junctions for some years recognising the limitations these constraints could potentially 

place on the Council’s plans for economic and housing growth. 

 

Highways England clearly shares similar concerns as evidenced by the objections they 

have made in response to several recent planning proposals on the grounds of the 

impact that such developments would potentially have on the capacity of the strategic 

road network. 

 

In order to mitigate the additional impact that the IBF will place upon the local road 

network, and thus safeguard the Council’s plans for growth, the Council would be 

grateful for an early meeting with the Secretary of State for Transport to discuss how 

plans can be brought forward as soon as possible to address the following key issues: 

 

• The upgrading of the on and off slip roads to the A256/A2 junction to current 

design standards. 

 

• Improvements being delivered to the configuration and capacity of the A258/A2 

Duke of York’s Roundabout to ensure that Deal bound traffic is not hindered by 

increased traffic on the strategic road network. 

 

45



3 | P a g e  

 

• Improvements to the A2/A256/Sandwich Road roundabout at Whitfield 

including the introduction of a signalised junction to ensure that local traffic is 

not hindered by increased traffic on the strategic road network. 

In addition to these short-term measures, the Council has been lobbying for many 

years for the dualling of the section of the A2 between Lydden and Dover. This route 

provides vital resilience to the M20/A20 corridor and given that the proposed IBF will 

increase traffic on this route, we would reiterate once again our request that the Lydden 

to Dover A2 dualling scheme be included in the next Roads Investment Strategy 

programme. 

 

2. Impact on Local Residents & the Environment 

 

Whilst this site has of course been designated as employment land within the Local 

Plan for more than 20 years, the Council is none the less pleased to note the efforts 

made within the site layout to shield the proposed development from the residential 

properties to the east, through the provision of buffer zones and additional planting 

together with the other environmental measures as set out in the Environmental 

Management Plan. 

 

Comments associated with the site layout and the measures taken to mitigate the 

impact of the development are contained within the Council’s response as Local 

Planning Authority and to avoid duplication are not repeated here. The Council is 

concerned however that these proposals have yet to be relayed in a detailed format to 

the residents most affected during the course of the engagement period. 

 

The Council would therefore urge, as a matter of some urgency, that the Department 

of Transport engages with the residents and provides them with responses to those 

issues of concern, which include the provision of a scaled layout plan of the proposed 

site together with details of the proposals to ensure that the environmental issues 

around sound, light and air pollution will be soundly addressed. 

 

The construction of the IBF does affect a section of the North Downs Way, which it is 

noted is proposed to be diverted along the eastern edge of the site. The current Local 

Plan does in fact provide for the route of the North Downs Way to be restored to its 

original alignment along the Roman road and across the A2 on a new bridleway bridge 

to continue to Pineham when the area is developed for employment use. 

 

Whilst the Council understands the reasons for the diversion of the footpath, there are 

local concerns that this diversion will become permanent and the opportunity to 

improve the national trail lost. We would therefore ask that should the IBF cease 

operation by 31 December 2025 as indicated within the SDO legislation, that the 

footpath being restored to its original alignment along the Roman road. 

 

Developments such as this, will inevitably have an impact on the environment and the 

activities associated with it’s operation are potentially detrimental to the objectives 

contained within Council’s Climate Change Strategy, prepared following the Council’s 

agreement to declare a Climate Emergency in January 2020. 

 

The suite of documents prepared to support the proposal covers these issues in 

considerable detail, which it is not appropriate to seek to duplicate within this response. 

However, the Council would ask that every effort be taken to mitigate those impacts 

46



4 | P a g e  

 

identified within the Analysis of the Likely Environmental Effects of the Development 

Report as prepared by WSP and that this Analysis be shared with those residents most 

affected by the development. 

 

3. Impact of Development on Dover Fastrack and Local Businesses 

 

As outlined above, the proposed access to the IBF is from the existing B&Q roundabout 

via Section 2 of the Dover Fastrack scheme. The Dover Fastrack proposal forms part 

of the masterplan for the development of at c5,750 new homes, at Whitfield with a mix 

and quality of housing supported by the provision for a fast bus link to the town centre 

and rail station as integral to the development. The Fastrack scheme has attracted 

significant grant support from Homes England and detailed design is well advanced 

with construction planned to start in late 2021. 

 

The design of the scheme, which includes bus priority measures, segregated busways, 

and camera enforcement on sections of route, including a new bridge over the A2, had 

always been intended to open-up access to WCBP Phase 3. 

 

However, the volume of traffic generated by the IBF is likely to be far higher than usage 

levels previously envisaged and so the Council is concerned that should queues of 

traffic form beyond the boundaries of the site that this could adversely impact upon the 

operation of the Dover Fastrack Scheme and indeed on other businesses operating 

from White Cliffs Business Park. 

 

We would therefore ask that every effort is made in developing the Operational 

Management Plan to ensure the effective operation of the IBF site access and egress 

arrangements and thus eliminate any risk that queues of HGVs extending outside the 

site obstruct the efficient operation of the Dover Fastrack scheme or queue back onto 

Honeywood Parkway. 

 

4. Support for Local Economic Growth 

 

As noted earlier, the site chosen for the proposed development has been designated 

as employment land within the Local Plan for more than 20 years and the Council 

welcomes the investment in infrastructure at the White Cliffs Business Park (WCBP) 

that the IBF proposal offers. 

 

WCBP has been identified as a premier location for employment, as set out in the Core 

Strategy and Land Allocations Local Plan, and whilst the IBF brings forward some 

employment opportunities in the short-term, the Council is keen to see plans developed 

for the longer term noting that the Town and Country Planning (Border Facilities and 

Infrastructure) (EU Exit) (England) Special Development Order 2020, specifies that 

any facilities provided under this order will cease operation prior to 31 December 2025.  

 

This therefore raises questions as to the future of the site after this date. 

 

There appear, at this stage, to be two possible outcomes: 

 

i. That the site is surplus to requirements and the IBF is closed. 

 

ii. That continued use of the site is required and, subject to granting of planning 

consent, usage of the site as an IBF continues on a permanent basis. 

47



5 | P a g e  

 

Given that this area of the WCBP forms a key part of the Council’s allocation of 

employment land as set out in the Land Allocations within the current Local Plan and 

as a local authority focused on delivering economic growth, we welcome the 

investment in infrastructure, which facilities access to the IBF and the remainder of 

WCBP Phase 3. 

 

We equally assume that the government would be keen to support the Council’s growth 

agenda and we would therefore wish to engage with the Secretary of State for 

Transport and the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy at 

the earliest opportunity to discuss future plans for the site. 

 

In particular, should operations on the site cease in 2025, as to whether ownership of 

the site could be transferred to Dover District Council to enable the Council to take 

forward plans to facilitate economic growth within the District. 

 

Alternatively, should use of the site, especially by HMRC, continue beyond 2025, then 

there would seem to be an opportunity to consolidate HMRC activity on this site and 

potentially relocate facilities currently sited elsewhere in Dover, such as those located 

at St. Johns Road to this site enabling land to be released for housing. 

 

In conclusion, the Council would like to reiterate that the provision of major investment in 

infrastructure and early job creation in the Dover locality is to be particularly welcomed, 

however without suitable mitigation of the risk of serious traffic disruption on local and strategic 

roads in the area the proposal would be unacceptable to residents and businesses in the 

District. 

 

The Council seeks early reassurance on the matters outlined above and I would welcome an 

early meeting with you to discuss how we can work together to take forward the points raised 

in my letter. 

 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
 

Cllr Trevor Bartlett 
Leader of the Council 
 
cc Natalie Elphicke MP 

Barbara Cooper, Kent CC 
Haroona Chughtai, DfT 

48



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP 
Secretary of State for Transport 
Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 

Leader’s Office 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872452 
e-mail: cllr-trevor.bartlett@dover.gov.uk 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
 

 
Councillor Trevor Bartlett 
Leader of the Council 
 
Direct Line: (01304) 872090 
Our Ref: RG/LJ/TB/DJD 
Your Ref:  

Date: 10 February 2021 

 

 
 

Dear Mr Shapps, 

 

Re: Government preparations for the end of the transition period with the EU - White 

Cliffs Inland Border Facility  

 

I would like to thank you for the opportunity you have given to Dover District Council as part 

of the engagement process to respond as the Local Planning Authority with regards to the 

proposal to establish an Inland Border Facility (IBF) at White Cliffs Business Park, Dover. 

 

I have attached a copy of the detailed report prepared by my planning team in relation to this 

proposal, which includes the following recommendations: 

 

That DDC as LPA would wish to see amendments to the scheme, or for additional information 

to be provided to address the following matters: 

a. that a mitigation package of highway improvements to reduce congestion and improve 

safety at the Whitfield Roundabout and Duke of York Roundabout is included with the 

submission for Relevant Approval and implemented to a programme to be agreed with 

the relevant authorities; 

 

b. that the initial security / check in post for HGVs, before the HMRC and DEFRA 

inspection areas, is repositioned to the south of the swim lanes, to reduce/eliminate 

any risk that HGVs queuing at this security / check in post might back up onto the new 

access roadway and wider road network with the potential to cause severe congestion 

including to Dover Fastrack buses;  

c. that a bus gate, controlled by Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras, 

is installed on the new access roadway to control and limit the Dover Road access to 

authorised buses and emergency vehicles only. 

 

d. that the access to the DEFRA staff car park also be available for those using the HMRC 

car park, to avoid conflict between staff vehicles and HGVs at the main HGV entrance;  

e. that a robust sensitivity analysis is carried out for ferry arrivals at the Port of Dover, 

where two or more ferries arrive close together, in respect of the resultant HGV 

movements and highway impacts to inform the off-site highway improvements 

identified at a;  

49



2 | P a g e  

 

f. that details of traffic signage and routing controls are provided with the submission of 

information for Relevant Approval to include real-time advance electronic directional 

signage showing any operational issues at the site; 

g. that fast charge electric vehicle charging points are provided for the staff car parks at 

one for every 10 spaces & that electric hook up points are provided for refrigeration 

units of trucks.  

 

h. that a fully detailed proposed LED lighting scheme (including lux plot) is included with 

the submission for Relevant Approval, so landscape and visual impacts of the 

proposed IBF can be properly considered, and that no lighting is provided to the east 

of the lorry parking areas and no columns exceed 8m in height. The scheme should 

make specific reference to Institute of Lighting Engineers Guidance Document 

‘Guidance Note 1 for the reduction of obtrusive light 2020’ whereby residential areas 

in Guston are considered E2 Rural Low district brightness (Sparsely inhabited rural 

areas, village or relatively dark outer suburban locations). 

 

i. that the height of the landscaped bund to the west of the houses on Dover Road / St 

Martin’s Road is increased to at least 3m; and that the bund incorporates denser 

evergreen planting at lower and higher levels to ensure the proposed IBF is fully 

screened from the outlook of those residents; 

j. that a more biodiverse planting scheme, which would further help screen the 

operational development, is provided across the areas currently identified as ‘cut 

grassland’ and ‘amenity grassland’ to include further areas of woodland edge planting 

to the east of the bund and west of the swim lanes; 

k. that tree planting is increased along the route of the proposed new roadway/BRT route; 

l. that the 2m security fence is re-positioned to inside the bund so it is not visible to 

nearby residents and users of the realigned North Downs Way National Trail; 

m. that an acoustic fence is positioned along the eastern edge of the HGV parking area, 

to help attenuate any noise from that area; the fence and buildings should be designed 

such that there is minimum ‘line of sight’ from residential properties in St Martins Road.  

 

n. that the HGV parking area is managed so vehicles are sequentially parked as far west 

into the Site as possible; 

 

o. that the HGV parking area is only lit in areas where vehicles are parked and only where 

and when it is necessary to do so; 

 

p. that the appearance of all buildings are agreed with the LPA before being constructed  

and materials of the buildings are sympathetic to and would blend into the surrounding 

landscape, and would be least obtrusive in views across the Site and are not higher 

than 8m;  

q. that a measurable biodiversity net gain of at least 10% is achieved against the DEFRA 

metric; 

r. that further engagement with DDC on matters of noise, air quality, lighting and 

contaminated land is required before the submission for relevant approval;  

50



3 | P a g e  

 

s. that there is meaningful engagement with DDC on the information and detail that is to 

be provided as a ‘construction management plan’, ‘operational management plan’ and 

site specific ‘dust management plan’ as referenced as mitigation in the air quality report 

(WSP 70077720-AQ). This should include real-time PM10 monitoring to begin as soon 

as possible before the commencement of works. 

 

t. tree planting to provide shade and relief from the sun is provided across proposed 

areas of hardstanding wherever possible; 

 

u. the proposed buildings on the Site achieve at least a 31% reduction in carbon 

emissions below the Target Emission Rate (TER) as set out in Building Regulations 

Part L (2013) 

v. the proposed buildings meet a BREEAM 'Very Good' standard overall, including Very 

Good for addressing maximum energy efficiencies under the energy credits;  

w. water efficiency measures are included to achieve the relevant BREEAM water credits;  

x. through consultation with KCC as Lead Local Flood Authority, the surface water 

drainage system includes appropriate allowances for climate change. 

y. That the WWII pill box is preserved. 

z. Noisy works of construction should only take place during the following hours 

i. 8am-6pm Monday-Friday  

ii. 8am-1pm Saturday  

iii. No time at all on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

iv. Prior consent for works should be applied for under Section 61 of the 

Control of Pollution Act 1974.  

 

aa. There should be a requirement to produce a stakeholder communications plan that 

includes community engagement before work commences 

 

bb. Mitigation measures should include discussions with DDC to establish appropriate 

access and haul routes for construction traffic.  

 

cc. Prior to commencement of the development a desk top study for contamination shall 

be undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The study shall include the identification of previous site uses, potential 

contaminants that might reasonably be expected given those uses and any other 

relevant information.  Using this information, a diagrammatical representation 

(Conceptual Model) for the site of all potential contaminant sources, pathways and 

receptors shall also be included. 

 

dd. That in the event of an alternative layout being proposed for submission for SDO 

approval that a further period of engagement to ascertain DDC’s views is agreed 

 

ee. That in the event of the proposed access arrangements being amended that any such 

amendments fully align with the proposed Dover Fastrack scheme or that it is clear 

how such an alignment will be achieved. 

 

51



4 | P a g e  

 

The Council seeks early reassurance on the matters outlined above and I would welcome an 

early meeting with you to discuss how we can work together to resolve these concerns. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

Cllr Trevor Bartlett 

Leader of the Council 
 

cc Natalie Elphicke MP 
Barbara Cooper, Kent County Council 
Haroona Chughtai, DfT 

 
 
 

52


	Agenda
	1 Notice of Decision Taken by the Leader of the Council - (LD05) Council's Response to Engagement Exercise on Inland Border Control Facility
	LD05 - Third Attachment
	05-02-21 Officers Report - Proposed Inland Border Facility at White Cliffs Business Park
	10.02.21 IBF LA Response
	10.02.21 IBF LPA Response (002)


